IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

APPEAL NO. 79,604

JUN 17 1996 CLEEK WAYNER TO WAY

BOBBIE LEE ROBINSON,

Appellant,

Vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral Argument Requested

PAUL MCKENNA, ESQ.
CURT OBRONT, ESQ.
McKenna & Obront
Attorneys for Appellant
2666 Tigertail Avenue
Suite 104
Coconut Grove, Florida 33133
(305) 285-7044

INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal from judgments of conviction and a sentence of death, entered following a jury trial before the Honorable Alfonso Sepe of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Dade County, Florida. In this brief, the clerk's transcript of record on appeal is cited as "R.," the supplemental record is cited as "S.R." and the transcript of the proceedings is cited as "T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Lee Arthur Lawrence was shot and killed on March 20, 1989. (R. 1-3). Mr. Lawrence, along with two other individuals, Josias Dukes and Bernard Williams, were victims of armed assailants. (R. 1-3).

On April 12, 1989, a Dade County Grand Jury returned an indictment against the Appellant, BOBBIE LEE ROBINSON, along with co-defendants, Ronnie Johnson, David Bertrum Ingraham and Rodney O'Neal Newsome, for conspiring to commit first degree murder and attempted first degree murder (two counts). (R. 1-3).¹ The Grand Jury also charged Mr. Ingraham with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R. 3).²

Mr. Robinson, adjudged indigent, (R. 124), became the client of a court appointed Special Assistant Public Defender, Mr. Alan Sovin, by the Order of Judge Alfonso Sepe. (R. 16). Mr. Sovin attempted to disqualify the prosecutor who was in turn trying to disqualify him. (R. 11-13).³ Additionally, there was a brief time where Attorney Sovin was removed as Mr. Robinson's counsel, but he was reinstated following an Order granting a

¹Subsequent to the return of the instant indictment, the Appellant ROBINSON was severed from his co-defendants and proceeded to trial individually.

²Mr. Ingraham had previously been convicted of Attempted Armed Robbery and Possession of a Firearm during a commission of a felony in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Dade County, Florida, on March 21, 1988.

³An evidentiary hearing on the State's motion to disqualify Attorney Sovin due to a potential conflict of interest was conducted on September 5, 1990, before Judge Sepe, and waivers were obtained from Mr. Robinson and from another client of Mr. Soven's, Marc Word.

motion by the Third District Court of Appeals.⁴ The case was remanded back to Judge Sepe's division. (R. 16).⁵

Prior to Mr. Robinson's trial, oral motions were made and denied in an effort to prevent the State from improperly admitting victim character and reputation evidence. (R. 1680-1700). Throughout the trial, the state repeatedly represented the deceased, Mr. Lawrence, as an anti-drug crusader while it portrayed Mr. Robinson as a drug dealer. (R. 235-241, 543-558, 664-739, 1337-1440). Also, prior to trial, no written notice was provided to Mr. Robinson that the State would present the testimony of Marvin Hauser to allege that Mr. Robinson had committed the crime of attempted solicitation to commit first degree murder.⁶

On March 25, 1991, the jury selection process began in Mr. Robinson's trial. (R. 1671-2273). During voir dire, outside the presence of the jury, the State accurately

⁴Following Mr. Robinson's trial, the undisputed fact that Mr. Soven received money from the Robinson family, even though he was court appointed counsel, became the subject of a motion for a new trial. Mr. Soven testified that the money he received from the Robinson family was a gift and the Motion for a new trial was subsequently denied.

⁵The guilt/innocence phase and part of the penalty phase of Mr. Robinson's trial was conducted by Judge Sepe. At the sentencing phase, however, because Judge Sepe had been removed from the bench by administrative Order following his indictment in a federal sting entitled, "Operation Court Broom" in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, allegedly for taking bribes and kickbacks from court-appointed attorneys in exchange for their appointments, a County Court Judge, Gerald Hubbart conducted the sentencing hearing.

⁶The State conceded this reversible error, a violation of §90.404(2)(b), and the Court properly granted Mr. Robinson's motion to exclude Mr. House's testimony. After recessing for the day, the Court, the next morning, reversed its ruling and permitted Mr. House to testify over Mr. Robinson's objection. (R.).

pointed out that although Mr. Robinson's counsel filed a Demand for Speedy Trial, counsel failed to file a witness list for either phase of this death penalty proceeding. (R. 1674-1677). The State also alerted the Court to the fact, among other things, that Mr. Robinson's counsel also failed to file a Motion to Suppress Mr. Robinson's statement. (R. 1678-1679).⁷ The State's Motion in Limine to prohibit the defense from bringing up the fact that the arresting officer in Mr. Robinson's case had been indicted for criminal charges (for murdering his wife) was granted by the Court. (R. 1678-1690). Mr. Robinson's Motion to Strike Additional Witnesses, which the State did not list until two years after the arraignment in this case, was denied by the Court, and these witnesses were not deposed by Mr. Robinson's counsel. (R. 1699).

Mr. Robinson moved to control and prevent the disclosure of pre-trial publicity, but the Court, over defense objection, permitted television cameras into the courtroom. Even though there was extensive coverage by the media in this highly publicized case, the Court told the jury that they could watch the news and read the newspaper, but they should "avoid watching and reading about this case." (R. 1727). Several jurors who served on Mr. Robinson's jury heard about or read about this case before trial. (R. 1730). Jurors admitted sympathizing with the deceased because he was being held out by the press as an anti-drug crusader who was killed by drug dealers. (R. 1795-1800). Extensive pre-trial publicity reflected that jurors were under the distinct impression that an upstanding citizen

⁷At the conclusion of voir dire, Mr. Robinson's counsel admitted that he was not ready for trial, and he requested money for a private investigator to interview witnesses. (R. 1678-1679). Counsel failed to depose State witnesses and he also did not receive <u>Brady</u> materials regarding a jail house informant. (R. 1699-1704).

had been shot and that the deceased was held in such high esteem by the community that a street was named after him. (R. 1795-1805).

The jury selection process was further unforgivably tainted thereafter when the Court sustained the racially motivated challenges of Jurors Gibbs and Bradley. (Proceedings held on March 28, 1991, p. 233-236). Juror Gibbs, an African-American who shared that he had read about the homicide involving a respected community leader who was against drugs, advised the Court that he recalled the community's reaction to the shooting as being one of shock. (R. 1729-1854). Juror Gibbs stated that, in his community, shootings in drug-related crimes occur so frequently that he could not really state his reaction. (R. 1729-1854). Juror Gibbs testified that he resided in Carol City, a different neighborhood from the one in which Mr Lawrence was killed. Juror Gibbs did not know the deceased victim's name, and he did not know or had never heard of Mr. Robinson or other people indicted in this offense. (R. 1729-1854). Juror Gibbs is selfemployed in a lawn service business, and is married to a woman who works as a supervisor with the Internal Revenue Service. (R. 1729-1854). Juror Gibbs has two children, and his daughter is a security guard at the airport. (R. 1729-1854). Juror Gibbs stated that he has resided in Dade County for approximately twenty years and that, having earned his GED, he volunteered at Dunbar Elementary School during the childrens' field trips. (R. 1729-1854). Juror Gibbs honestly informed the Court that he had served a jail sentence, but that he had not had bad experiences with the police in the last ten to fifteen years. (R. 1729-1854). While he stated that he had been a victim of a crime three times, including being shot in the head, and that his brother had been accused of a crime, Juror Gibbs testified that he could render a fair and impartial verdict.

Defense Counsel: Was there anything about those incidents that

would prevent you from being fair and impartial

today?

Juror Gibbs: No. I believe in God. I forgave him. It don't bother me.

(R. 2010).

Although at one point Juror Gibbs seemed ambiguous as to whether or not he would be able to impose the death penalty, following further questioning and clarification by the Court, Juror Gibbs unequivocally stated that he could and would follow the law and vote in favor of the death penalty given the appropriate circumstances.

Juror Gibbs: Yes, sir. Well, all night I couldn't sleep thinking about

this situation, and after thinking about it I am still not in favor of capital punishment, but if I was given my choice to make a decision, I think after I have weighed the mitigating and aggravating part of it, and if one outweigh the other, I think I could reach a decision. I

think I could make that decision.

The Court: After weighing each side of it, whichever one outweigh

the other, then --

Juror Gibbs: I think I would be able to render a decision.

The Court: All right. Thank you sir. So you have thought it over

last night. Let me see if I understand your answer. Your answer to me today is that while you are opposed to capital punishment, you could if you sat on this jury, and the jury found the defendant guilty of first degree murder, could you weigh the aggravating circumstances and mitigating circumstances, and if the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances, you could return a recommendation for the death

penalty?

Juror Gibbs: Yes sir, I could.

The Court: That is your answer today?

Juror Gibbs: Yes.

(R. 1925-1927).

Nevertheless, even though other jurors who served on Mr. Robinson's jury confessed that they too had brothers who had bad experiences with the law, Juror Gibbs was excused without any inquiry conducted surrounding this issue by the State.⁸

The Court: James Gibbs, 521.

Defense Counsel: Accept.

Prosecutor: We strike.

Defense Counsel: Mr. Gibbs is Black and I fail to see that is

anything but a racially motivated strike.

request that the State make a showing.

The Court: 521, James Gibbs.

The Prosecutor: It will take a while. He said so many different

things that --

The Court: Just give us the litany of things you feel he said.

The Prosecutor: First of all, he has been convicted. He served

three and a half years. in prison. He was on probation. He was shot at. He said he couldn't sleep all night the other night. He had problems with the capital punishment. The record was clear on capital punishment. He went back and forth. It was not enough for cause but he was

⁸The Assistant State Attorney asked questions regarding people's experiences with law enforcement of a plethora of potential jurors, but did not ask Juror Gibbs one question with respect to his experiences.

ambivalent. The case law says ambivalence is enough for the State to allow a peremptory that does not meet the cause.

The Court:

You have more. You want to recite them?

The Prosecutor:

There is plenty more that we have.

The Court:

If you want to make a record, you may recite.

You don't need it from me.

The Prosecutor:

When they were talking about police today, Mr. Sovin was talking about can you believe police Can you treat them like any other officers. witnesses, and the comment was made. Mr. Gibbs gave a laugh and a snicker like he could never believe a police officer at all. I forget the context And the record, but I made a note down that this reaction isn't recorded in the record because it was a snort and laugh that all police officers never tell the truth, and if it in put in the context that the conversation was this afternoon when the snort was, that was the impression I got that he could not. Besides, his answers to all the questions have just been everything, done everything, always had an answer to a question and things that I mentioned before.

The Court:

535, Charles West.

Defense Counsel:

Is the Court sustaining or overruling the

challenge?

The Court:

There was not a challenge on Mr. Gibbs. What

are you talking about?

The Prosecutor:

Move to strike.

The Court:

I am sorry. The State challenged him and it is

challenged peremptory. What is there to

overrule?

Defense Counsel: Can I object on the basis it was racially

motivated?

The Court:

You want me to make a finding? I am sorry the

Court finds no racially based motive for the

challenge.

Defense Counsel: Sustain the challenge?

The Court:

Yes, the Court sustains the challenge.

(Proceedings held on March 28, 1991).

Following jury selection and opening statements where the State repeatedly injected prejudice against Mr. Robinson by referring to him as a drug dealer and to the deceased as an anti-drug crusader, (R. 225-305), and where Mr. Robinson's counsel admittedly misled the jury into believing that Mr. Robinson's defense was that the victim's son was actually responsible for these shootings and that he just wanted to shock the jury into listening to him, (R. 225-305), the State called thirty-six witnesses to testify on its behalf in an attempt to prove its case against Mr. Robinson. (R. 225-1297).

State witnesses testified that even though Mr. Robinson was not present at the time of the shooting, he had brilliantly masterminded, planned and engineered the killing of the grocer/anti-drug crusader as well as the attempted killing of two bystanders and the death of a dog. (R. 225-1297). Conflicting testimony was presented by state witnesses, including that of convicted felons, in exchange for leniency in pending cases, that Mr. Robinson told them that he had someone taken care of because he believed they were involved in his brother's murder and/or that this someone was interfering with his drug activity. (R. 306-472). Another state witness claimed that even though he knew Mr. Robinson for only a week, he had been offered the opportunity to take care of someone for \$14,000. (R. 639-778). The State conceded the fact that it violated Mr. Robinson's rights in failing to notice him regarding this witness required by the <u>Williams</u> Rule, but the State stated that it hoped the Supreme Court would find it harmless error even though the witness was clearly confused as to who actually offered him money and had refused to give a sworn statement. (R. 639-778).

Other state witnesses testified that Mr. Robinson had been seen talking with one of the individuals arrested for the murder of Mr. Lawrence, and the State made inferences upon inferences that money had exchanged hands between Mr. Robinson and others arrested in this case, but never offered one iota of proof to support this allegation. (R. 225-1297). The State alleged that one person was recruited by Mr. Robinson to carry out his ingenious scheme, but then that person recruited two other individuals to systematically carry out the carefully thought out conspiracy. Weapons, acknowledged as "look alikes" to those used in the shooting were introduced into evidence, over defense objections, and a tape recording of a conversation that Mr. Robinson had with Rodney Newsome was introduced evidencing that Mr. Robinson knew him, but also revealing that Mr. Robinson was confused as to how he might help this person who had been arrested for murder. (R. 265, 267, 1057). Testimony was presented that one of the guns that may have been used in the shooting may have been owned, but not possessed by, Mr Robinson's wife before she and Mr. Robinson were married. (R. 1202). Finally, testimony at trial revealed that Mr. Robinson had indeed been in the area of the murder on the day before the shootings took place, an area referred as a "drug hole," but the record at trial is void of the deceased ever having reported to the police any information that implicated Mr. Robinson in any drug activity - despite the fact that testimony was presented that Mr. Lawrence regularly informed the police about drug activity in his area and turned drug dealers in (R.) - or that the deceased and Mr. Robinson even knew each other. Furthermore, although testimony was presented to prove that Mr. Robinson had used drugs, the State failed to provide any evidence that Mr. Robinson was a drug dealer. (R. 887-1012).

Based upon this circumstantial evidence, or despite the lack thereof, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts against Mr. Robinson. The Court adjudicated Mr. Robinson guilty of first degree murder and two counts of attempted first degree murder, and it immediately began to conduct a penalty phase hearing, informing the jurors over and over again, that the sole decision as to whether or not Mr. Robinson would receive the death penalty rested with the Court. (R. 1636, 1637, 1660).

The State relied on evidence presented during the guilt/innocence phase and a certified copy of Mr. Robinson's contemporaneous convictions to establish four statutory aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. Mr. Robinson presented testimony by his mother and father to support mitigating circumstances revealing that Mr. Robinson's brother's murder had a grave effect upon him. Although the jury had only been deliberating for five short hours, the court, on its volition, without a request by the jury for clarification or concern, and without a motion by either the State or Mr. Robinson, summoned the jury into courtroom, interrupting their deliberations because the Court could not understand why they were taking so long to make a decision that did not require a

⁹The four statutory aggravating circumstances included: previous violent felony convictions; knowingly created great risk of death to many persons; pecuniary gain; and murder was cold, calculated and premeditated.

unanimous vote, and re-read the jury instructions for the penalty phase. The cold written record does not reflect the inflection and tone used in re-reading these instructions, but the record is clear that it was only ten minutes later that jury subsequently returned with a 10-2 "recommendation" to impose the death penalty upon Mr. Robinson. (R. 1646-1671).

The Court, in its Sentencing Order dated February 11, 1992, stated that it considered not only the mitigating evidence presented on behalf of Mr. Robinson during the penalty phase conducted in front of the jury, but that it also considered evidence presented only to the Court in a Sentencing hearing. (R. 198-202). Evidence that the jury did not hear, but that the Sentencing court considered, included expert testimony that Mr. Robinson's intelligence was well below normal, that Mr. Robinson was unable to appreciate the criminality of his conduct, and that he suffered from substantial abuse of alcohol and marijuana following the murder of his brother. (R. 201). The Sentencing Court erroneously found four statutory aggravating circumstances and incorrectly stated that it considered the mitigating circumstances as non-statutory circumstances which did not outweigh the aggravating circumstances. (R. 198-202). The Court, thereafter, unconstitutionally sentenced Mr. Robinson to death by electrocution for the first degree murder conviction of Mr. Lawrence and to two consecutive thirty year terms for the two attempted first degree murder convictions. (R. 198-202).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Robinson's trial and sentencing proceedings evidence obscene violations of Mr. Robinson's Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights, exposing the unconstitutional and corrupt nature of Florida's death penalty statute. On flimsy circumstantial evidence, the State proceeded to trial, seeking the death penalty. A tainted jury heard ambiguous instructions by a biased judge, and then a County Court judge heard significant mitigating evidence, not heard by the jury, which was essentially ignored in order to impose the death sentence. Florida's death penalty statute, facially and as applied in Mr. Robinson's case, cries out to be struck down once and for all.

While the State was allowed to portray the deceased victim as a drug-crusader and hero in the community, the State, without any proof whatsoever of its allegations, was also entitled, if not encouraged, to depict Mr. Robinson as an evil, but brilliant, drug dealer who had no regard for human life, and who masterminded, planned and engineered the shooting of Mr. Lawrence, two innocent bystanders and a dog, despite Mr. Robinson's low level of intelligence and inability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct.

The jury selection process was unforgivably tainted by unlawful State challenges against African-American jurors. The Court's outrageous comments and misleading instructions to the jury prejudiced Mr. Robinson and denied him a reliable verdict and penalty phase recommendation. The Court reversibly erred when it repeatedly informed the jury that their recommendation was merely advisory and that the decision to impose the death penalty upon Mr. Robinson rested solely with the Court. In an absurd and reprehensible manner, the Court summoned the jury during their penalty phase

deliberations, sua sponte, and interjected a re-reading of the jury instructions.

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