IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,604

BOBBIE LEE ROBINSON,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY Assistant Attorney General Florida Ear No. 0375934

Department of Legal Affairs Rivergate Plaza, Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida **33131**

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 27 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Ohief Depety Clerk

ÐY_

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

THE CLAIM OF RACIALLY MOTIVATED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The Appellant contends that the prosecution unlawfully exercised two (2) racially motivated peremptory challenges on potential juror Gibbs and potential alternate juror Bradley. These contentions are not preserved for appeal, and are without merit.

The record reflects that after the exercise of peremptory challenges on the above said jurors, jury selection continued with both parties exercising other challenges and further agreeing upon two alternate jurors. (ST. 236-47). Thereafter, the defense accepted the jury and the latter was sworn without any objections. (ST. 247-8, 256). The instant claim is thus unpreserved for appeal pursuant to <u>Joiner v. State</u>, 618 So. 2d 174, 176 (Fla. 1993) (at the time of swearing of jury, defense must renew prior objections to State's peremptory challenges or accept jury subject to prior objections, in order to preserve the claim for appellate review, and in order to preclude defense from deceiving trial judge into believing that the defense was satisfied with the jury which was ultimately seated).

The State would note that with respect to potential alternate Bradley, the instant claim is further procedurally barred as the defense did not object, and did not even request an explanation for

111.

this strike, or a ruling from the trial court. The record reflects that after the State challenged juror Bradley, the defense merely stated, "Judge, Mr. Bradley by the way, is a black juror." (ST. 244). Nothing further was added. Merely noting that Black or Hispanic potential jurors have been peremptorily excused by the State does not constitute a sufficient objection so as to preserve a Neil13 claim. Valle v. State, 581 So. 2d 40, 43-4 (Fla. 1991); See also <u>Melbourne v. Stat-</u>e, 679 So. 2d 759, 764-65, n.2 (Fla. 1996) ('A simple objection and allegation of racial discrimination is sufficient [to preserve a Neil objection], e.g., "I object. The strike is racially motivated." Even when a sufficient initial objection is made, there is no error where defense counsel never requested that the court ask the State its reason for the strike.).

In any event, the record further reflects that the instant claim is also without merit. With respect to juror Gibbs, upon defense counsel's demand for an explanation of the State's peremptory challenge, the prosecutor stated the following litany of reasons:

THE PROSECUTOR: First of all, he has been convicted. He served three and one half years in prison. He was on probation. He was shot at.

He said he couldn't sleep **all** night the other night. He had problems with the capital punishment. The record **was** clear on capital punishment. He went back and forth. It was not enough for cause,

¹³ <u>State v. Neil</u> 1457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984).

but he was ambivalent. The case law says ambivalence is enough for the State to allow a peremptory that does not meet the cause.

(ST. 233-4). The trial judge at this juncture noted that there were yet additional reasons, and the prosecutor added that with respect to the ability to believe a police officer's testimony, this juror had given 'a laugh and snicker like he could never believe a police officer at all." (ST. 234-5). The defense did not contest or dispute either the factual basis or the validity of any of the prosecutor's reasons at any time. The trial judge ruled, "the Court finds no racially based motive for the challenge." (ST. 235).

The State's reasons and the trial judge's ruling are well supported by the record. The record reflects that in response to defense counsel's question about "bad" experiences with law enforcement, Mr. Gibbs stated that he had "several" confrontations with the police. (T. 2001-2002). On one occasion Mr. Gibbs stated that he was beaten by the police after a high speed chase. (T. 2002-3). On another occasion, Mr. Gibbs had armed himself with a gun, while being on probation "for several things such **as** aggravated assault". He had then gone to "collect money". (T. 2037). According to Mr. Gibbs, the victim thought that Gibbs **"was** gonna physically harm him," and thus shot Gibbs in the head. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Gibbs spent 3 ½ years in jail as a result of the various charges from this incident. (T. 2038). The foregoing was not Mr. Gibbs' complete

criminal history; the latter noted that with respect to other convictions, "it all depends on how far back you want to go". (T. 2048) $.^{14}$

Aside from his criminal history, Mr. Gibbs had also expressed difficulty in following the law. When asked whether he was able to base his decisions upon the evidence presented at trial, Mr. Gibbs stated: 'Well, I guess so. I am not sure. ..." (T. 1775). With respect to capital punishment, Gibbs had initially stated, "It is my opinion, I don't feel like no man should be put to death by another man, by anyone.. . and, I don't think, even if I decide, I heard the whole case, even if it proved that the guy was guilty, I don't think that I would be able to -- what you say? Be impartial." (T. 1768). As to the ability to recommend the death penalty, Mr. Gibbs had added, "I thought I could. I really thought I could, but just sitting here listening, I really don't think so." (T. 1855). Upon further questioning the next day, Mr. Gibbs had stated "Well all night I couldn't sleep thinking about this situation. And after thinking about it, I am still not in favor of capital punishment,...". (T. 1924-25) .

It is well established that in setting forth a race-neutral reason, the State does not have to establish grounds sufficient to

¹⁴ The defendant, neither in the court below nor indeed in this Court, has referred to any other potential juror with a comparable criminal background.

have the juror excused for cause. <u>Happ</u> v. <u>State</u>, 596 So. 2d 991, 996 (Fla. 1996). A prospective juror's prior involvement with the criminal judicial system is a legitimate non-racial reason for a peremptory challenge. Willacy v. Stat-e, 640 So. 2d 1079, 1082 (Fla. 1994). Likewise, inconsistent answers or equivocation on the issue of death penalty is a valid race-neutral reason. See, e.g. Randolph v. State, 562 So. 2d 331, 336-7 (Fla. 1990); Holton v. State, 573 so. 2d 284, 287 (Fla. 1990); Kramer v. State, 619 so. 2d 274, 276 (Fla. 1993); Atwater v. State, 626 So. 2d 1325, 1327 (Fla. 1993); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 386 (Fla. 1994). In sum, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding the prosecutor's reasons for challenging Mr. Gibbs to be race neutral, where said reasons are amply supported by the record and were not even contested by the defense in the court below. Happ, Melbourne, supra, Randolph, <u>supra</u>.

Likewise, with respect to potential alternate juror Bradley, although as previously noted there was no objection or a request for an explanation of said juror's peremptory strike, the record clearly reflects that said juror was also excused based upon race-neutral reasons. This is because the prosecution had previously challenged this juror for cause and stated its reasons for wishing to excuse Mr. Bradley. (T. 2164). The prosecutor's reasons for challenging Mr. Bradley were based upon the latter's equivocation on the death

penalty issue:

[PROSECUTOR]: Judge, I would challenge Mr. Bradley on cause, because he initially told the court that he does not believe in the death penalty. He has gone back and forth through your colloquy or the State's colloquy of not believing in the death penalty to saying well, I think I can follow the law, or I will follow the law.

(T. 2165). Again the record abundantly supports the above reasons articulated by the State. Mr. Bradley at the outset and in response to the court's inquiry had said, "I don't believe in capital punishment... I do have a problem as a Christian." (T. 2147-48). Mr. Bradley added, "I think I can say that if there is a legal way to be lenient, that I would possibly lean that way more so because of my religious feelings." (T. 2152, 2154). This juror then stated that under no circumstances would he be able to vote for the death penalty. (T. 2155). upon further questioning, Mr. Bradley summarily stated that he was able "to go through the process at which the law states" (T. 2160), but added, "what I'm saying is that I will follow through the process if the evidence is overwhelming..." (T. 2161). Mr. Bradley concluded that he would do his 'utmost in order to try to get the other jurors to see my idea,..." (T. 2163). It is thus abundantly clear that the prosecution's subsequent peremptory challenge of Mr. Bradley was race-neutral as it was prompted by the latter's inconsistent answers and difficulty in setting aside his religious convictions against the death penalty. Hopp, Holton,

<u>Kramer</u>, <u>Walls</u>, <u>supra</u>. In sum, the instant claim is procedurally barred and without merit.

IV.

THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE.

A. <u>There Was No Misinformation About The Jury's Capital</u> <u>Sentencing Role.</u>

The Appellant contends that prosecutorial and judicial comments, in conjunction with improper¹⁵ instructions, minimized the jurors' sense of responsibility in violation of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985) and <u>Mann v. Dugger</u>, 844 F.2d 1946 (11th Cir. 1988). This claim is procedurally barred as there were no objections to any prosecutorial or judicial comments, the jury was instructed in accordance with the standard jury instructions, and, the defense did not request any additional or different jury instructions. <u>See</u>, <u>Combs v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 853, 856 (Fla. 1988); <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1010 (Fla. 1994); <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 244, 253 (Fla. 1995); <u>Dugger v. Adams</u>, 489 U.S. 401, 402, 109 S.Ct. 1211, 103 L.Ed.2d 435 (1989).

Moreover, as the instant claim is apparently based upon references to the jury's "recommendation", it is also without merit. <u>Combs</u>, 525 So. 2d at 857-8. <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 833, 846 (1988), <u>cert. denied</u>, 489 U.S. 1071, 109 S.Ct. 1354, 103 L.Ed. 2d 822

¹⁵ The Appellant has not specified any of the allegedly unlawful comments or instructions.

(1989); <u>Wuornos</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Appellee would further note that both the trial judge (T. 1824) and the prosecutor (T. 2157) in fact informed the prospective jurors that their recommendation would be given "great weight." The instant claim is thus procedurally barred, without merit, and refuted by the record.

B. The Claim Of Interruption Or Manipulation Of The Deliberations Process Is Procedurally Barred And Without Record Support.

The Appellant next contends that the trial judge "interrupted" the jury's deliberations and reinstructed them for the purpose of "quickly concluding the proceeding," in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The instant claim is ' procedurally barred, as it was not raised in the court below. Moreover, the Appellant's assertions are refuted by the record, and without merit.

The record reflects that the sentencing evidence, arguments and instructions lasted approximately an hour and a half. (T. 1577, 1641). The jury then deliberated for **a** little more than one hour, before sending out a note. (T. 1641-2). The note advised that although nine (9) of the jurors wished to continue, three (3) jurors were too tired. (T. 1642). The trial judge, with the consent of the parties, instructed the jury to retire for the night. <u>Id</u>. The next day, the jurors deliberated for approximately three (3) hours, and then sent out a note requesting another recess. (T. 1648). The note

additionally informed the court that one of the jurors was suffering a toothache. <u>Id</u>. The trial judge had originally intended to excuse the jurors for one hour. <u>Id</u>. However, the recess was extended to approximately three (3) hours, as the juror suffering the toothache was taken to her dentist. (T. 1648, 1650-3).

In the interim, after the above said juror's return but prior to the continuation of deliberations, two medications, along with the dentists instructions for taking same, were delivered to the court, (T. 1653-4). The jury thus had to return to the courtroom after their extended recess and prior to continuing deliberations, in order for the medications to be delivered and for the parties to ascertain that these medications would not adversely affect the juror. (T. 1654).

It was at this juncture that the trial court informed the parties that there "might be some problem that is not being brought to our attention", in light of the fact that no unanimity and only a majority vote is required at the penalty phase. (T. 1655). The trial judge stated that re-reading the penalty phase instructions to the jurors, at the same time as delivering the medication and conducting an inquiry of the juror taking same, might be beneficial to the jury. Id. Defense counsel consented: "All right. No objection, since they already had the instructions in there with them." (T. 1656). After rereading the instructions and conducting

the inquiry of the juror as to her medication, the trial court again asked whether the defense **was** "satisfied", and defense counsel indicated that he **was**. (T. 1663). None of the arguments now presented on appeal, as to the manner or motive for rereading the instructions, were ever presented in the court below. The jury then returned its recommendation after deliberating for another twenty (20) minutes. (T. 1665).

As seen above, contrary to the Appellant's assertion, the trial court did not "interrupt" the jury's deliberations. They were reinstructed at the end of a recess requested by them. Furthermore, the reinstruction was made with the consent of defense counsel. There were no objections in the court below based upon unlawful motivation, nor **any** complaints about the manner in which the instructions were read,¹⁶ as now argued on appeal. As such any claim of error is procedurally barred. <u>See</u>, <u>Derrick v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 378, 379 (Fla. 1994) (claim of erroneous reinstruction, in capital sentencing proceeding, was procedurally barred when reinstruction was given without objection and with the agreement of defense counsel).

Moreover, no impropriety or prejudice has been demonstrated. A trial judge has the authority to recall the jurors, after

¹⁶ Indeed, the record reflects, that again with no objection from the defense, the trial judge informed the jury that he had in no way emphasized any portion of the instructions, and would be satisfied with whatever verdict was reached after careful consideration of the law and evidence presented. (T. 1663-4).

deliberations have begun, for the purpose of further instructions. See Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.420, which expressly provides that, after notice to the parties, "The court may recall the jurors after they have retired to consider the verdict to give them additional instructions... ." As noted by this Court, a re-reading of the penalty phase instructions is not error; error only occurs if the trial court gives an 'Allen charge" during the penalty phase. <u>Derrick.</u> 641 So. 2d at 379. No semblance of an "Allen" charge was given in the instant case. The reinstruction, as noted by the defense counsel, was the same as the written instructions which were already in the possession of the jury. There was thus no prejudice. The instant claim is therefore procedurally barred and without merit.

C. <u>The Sentencing Judcre Did Not Err In Failing To Impanel A</u> <u>New Jury In The Absence Of Any Reauest To Do So.</u>

The Appellant contends that a new trial, or a sentencinghearing before a new jury was required, when a replacement judge heard additional evidence of mitigation, subsequent to the penalty phase before the original judge and jury. There is no authority for the conduct of a new trial merely because a defendant presents additional evidence after the penalty phase. The sentencing scheme provides for the parties to present additional evidence and arguments for the judge's consideration after the jury's recommendation of sentence, without requiring a new trial. <u>See e.g. Armstrong v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1994).

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